#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

### SUPREME COURT FILED

DYNAMEX OPERATIONS WEST, INC., Petitioner,

MAY 1 1 2015

VS.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES COUNTY,
Respondent,

Deputy

CHARLES LEE et al., Real Parties in Interest.

ON REVIEW FROM A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION SEVEN, CASE NO. B249546

LOS ANGELES COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT, CASE NO. BC 332016
MICHAEL L. STERN, JUDGE

# PETITIONER DYNAMEX OPERATIONS WEST, INC.'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### LITTLER MENDELSON PC

#### **STATEMENT OF ISSUE**

1. In a wage and hour class action involving claims that the plaintiffs are misclassified as independent contractors, may a class be certified based on the Industrial Welfare Commission definitions as construed in *Martinez v. Combs* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 35 (*Martinez*), or should the common law test for distinguishing between employees and independent contractors discussed in *S.G. Borello & Sons, Inc. v. Dept. of Industrial Relations* (1989) 48 Cal.3d 341 (*Borello*), control?

### I. INTRODUCTION

For decades, under California common law, as interpreted by this Court in *Borello*, a business has been allowed to deal with sole proprietors and other small service providers as independent contractors. The key distinguishing element of an independent contractor relationship is that the business must relinquish any right to control the manner and means by which the contractor accomplishes the desired result (*Borello*). The courts also look to a number of "secondary factors" identified by the *Borello* court to help make this determination. If the *Borello* standards are met, the option of an independent contractor relationship is available to California businesses.

This case involves wage claims brought under various provisions of the California Labor Code. The *Borello* standard has consistently been applied to wage and hour claims of this kind, whenever an issue arises over whether individuals are employees or independent contractors. *Borello* allows a court to differentiate between employees, who fall within the protections of the Labor Code, and independent contractors, who do not.

The opinion of the Court of Appeal would no longer allow for such differentiation. Indeed, the Court of Appeal effectively eviscerates longestablished California precedent. In its opinion, the Court broadly concluded that any business that "suffers or permits" a service provider to work for a contracted fee has automatically "employed" that service provider. In reaching this conclusion, the Court of Appeal relied on language that was first placed in Industrial Welfare Commission (IWC) Orders 99 years ago. For the past century, that language has never been used by the courts to distinguish between employees and independent contractors, until now. The cited language does not, and cannot be used to define who is an "employee" – as opposed to an independent contractor. Instead, that language defines who may be considered an "employer" of an admitted employee.

Since this Court issued the *Borello* decision in 1989, it has been consistently and extensively relied upon by California courts and agencies at every level. *Borello* requires a nuanced and fact-specific balancing of factors before determining whether an individual is an employee. And the application of *Borello* to a wide range of industries has resulted in a well-reasoned body of law on which California businesses have come to rely.

Over the years, *Borello* has governed status determinations by the Workers' Compensation Appeals Board, Unemployment Insurance Appeals Board and the Division of Labor Standards Enforcement, as well as Courts of Appeal interpreting the statutes enforced by these agencies. And, as is most relevant here, *Borello* has been the standard followed by California courts in wage and hour class actions.

In contrast, the test proposed by the Court of Appeal here is both unprecedented and unrealistic. It is hardly an overstatement to say that the Court of Appeal's redefinition of "employee" would wipe out most independent contractor relationships in California.

As this Court has rightly recognized, both in *Borello* and in its more recent *Ayala<sup>1</sup>* decision, there must be strong protections against abuse of California workers. A paramount consideration in evaluating claimed independent contractor status, therefore, must be the remedial purposes served by California's employment-related statutes. As a result, this Court has long focused on the right to control as the key factor which establishes employment. Individuals who work for a single company, who receive detailed direction from that company, and who fail to establish a business identity are routinely – and correctly – found to be employees in California.

On the other hand, there are many small businesspersons and sole proprietors in California who invest in equipment and supplies, who hire others to work for them, who remain free to work for multiple companies, and who turn down jobs whenever they choose. These entrepreneurs do not wish to be "employees" of anyone but themselves. The Court of Appeal's opinion here would deny them that option.

In Ayala, the Court left open the question of whether its Martinez decision should have any application to wage and hour class actions. The Court went on to decide Ayala based on the traditional Borello standard, which the parties had relied upon in their briefing before the trial and appellate courts. (Ayala, supra, 59 Cal.4th at p. 531.) Here, the Court of Appeal has supplied its own answer to the questions left open in Ayala. According to the Court of Appeal, Borello should be supplanted as the standard for differentiating between employees and independent contractors in any case raising claims encompassed by IWC Wage Orders. Instead, under the view taken by the Court of Appeal, employee status should be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ayala v. Antelope Valley Newspapers, Inc. (2014) 59 Cal.4th 522.

extended to virtually all service providers in California.

As will be demonstrated below, the Court of Appeal's analysis is fundamentally flawed in numerous respects:(1) it ignores that *Borello* has effectively allowed courts to differentiate between employees and independent contractors for more than 25 years; 2) it misreads the scope and meaning of this Court's decision in *Martinez*; 3) it relies on language adopted into IWC Wage Orders beginning in 1916, which language does not remotely address the legal question here; 4) it presumes that the IWC had powers that exceeded its legislative grant of authority;<sup>2</sup> 5) it largely precludes heretofore legitimate independent contractor relationships between companies (or individuals) and small service providers; 6) it puts California at odds with both federal law and the laws of other states; and 7) it will lead to widespread confusion and contradictory rulings on employee status under various California Labor Code provisions.

For these reasons, this Court is urged to reaffirm that *Borello* remains the test for distinguishing employees from independent contractors in California. This case should be remanded to the trial court, which has already determined that class certification should be denied here if *Borello* is the governing standard.

# II. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

### A. <u>Plaintiffs Challenge Their Independent Contractor Status</u> <u>Before the Trial Court.</u>

Defendant Dynamex Operations West, Inc. (Dynamex) is a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The IWC is no longer an active agency. Funding of the IWC was suspended by the Legislature in 2004. (*Peabody v. Time Warner Cable, Inc.* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 662, 667, fn. 3.)

nationwide courier and delivery company. Dynamex contracts with sole proprietors and small delivery companies (Drivers) to provide local pick-up and delivery services. The parties—Dynamex and the Drivers alike—have viewed the Drivers as independent contractors. As such, the Drivers have the freedom to hire workers, provide services to other companies (including competitors to Dynamex) and negotiate the method of payment. (See pp. 2572-2579; Vol. 9; Tab 23.)<sup>3</sup>

Two Drivers filed a purported class action complaint against Dynamex in 2005. The Complaint asserted five causes of action based on an alleged employment relationship: 1) unfair business practices in violation of California's Business and Professions Code section 17200; 2) unlawful business practices in violation of California's Business and Professions Code section 17200; 3) failure to pay overtime compensation; 4) failure to provide properly itemized wage statements; and 5) failure to fully compensate for business expenses. (See pp. 1724-1744; Vol. 6.)

In 2006, the trial court first denied certification of a class, holding that individualized issues predominated because: "there are *huge variations* in the duties of Drivers as well as the relationship between the Drivers and defendant and the relationship between the clients and Drivers." (See p. 1657; Vol. 6, emphasis added.) The trial court relied on *Borello* in arriving at this conclusion. Subsequently, Plaintiffs amended the complaints twice, redefining the class and also adding multiple and shifting subclasses. The trial court granted certification, only to later decertify the class based on a motion by Dynamex. Again, Plaintiffs asked to change the class definition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Record citations are to the Appendix of Exhibits submitted with Dynamex's Petition for Writ of Mandate, Prohibition, or Other Appropriate Writ, filed in the Court of Appeal on June 24, 2013.

(See pp. 5975-5979; Vol. 20; Tab 53.) In response, the trial court vacated the decertification order, and continued Dynamex's decertification motion to allow Plaintiffs to file a *third* motion for class certification. (See pp. 6015-6016; Vol. 21; Tab 55.)

In their third motion, filed six years into the litigation, Plaintiffs argued that this Court's then-recent decision in *Martinez* enunciated new tests for employment status. Plaintiffs contended that all that was necessary for a Driver to be an employee was that Dynamex knew the Driver was providing services or that Dynamex negotiated the rates paid to the Driver. (See pp. 6020-6048; Vol. 21.)

On May 18, 2011, the trial court relied on *Martinez* to grant Plaintiffs' third certification motion and to deny Dynamex's motion to decertify. (See pp. 6541-6567; Vol. 22.) In doing so, the trial court noted that the result would be different if *Borello* remained the controlling standard. Under *Borello*, the trial court concluded, a class could *not* be certified because: "the main factor in determining whether an employment agreement exists—control—does require individualized inquiries." (See p. 6564; Vol. 21.) The trial court observed that this need for individualized inquiries also existed with respect to the secondary factors referenced in *Borello*, including the opportunity for profit or loss and the method of payment. (See pp. 6563-6564; Vol. 21.)

Nevertheless, the trial court accepted Plaintiffs' argument that *Martinez* indicated a "redefinition of the employment relationship." Under this "redefinition," the trial court concluded that all Plaintiffs needed to show in order to prove employee status was that Dynamex either (i) "knew or should have known" the Drivers were providing services—which included all "drivers with whom it entered into an agreement"—or (ii) had the authority to negotiate the amount it would pay the drivers for their services. (See pp. 6561-6562; Vol. 21.)

On December 28, 2012, Dynamex filed a second decertification motion. (See pp. 6586-6644; Vols. 22-23.) Dynamex noted, among other things, that several opinions published after the trial court's grant of certification had addressed the independent contractor/employee distinction without applying the "suffer or permit" or "exercise control over the wages, hours, or working conditions" standards described in *Martinez*. Dynamex argued that the trial court should follow *Borello* and decertify the class, as the trial court had already ruled that the *Borello* standard could not be applied without individualized inquiries. (See pp. 6604-6606; Vol. 23.)

On April 22, 2013, the trial court denied Dynamex's second motion to decertify the class. At the same time, the trial court invited Dynamex to seek appellate review, observing that: "It's hard to read the cases cited without some realization that the courts of appeal love to decide these issues." (See p. 6919; Vol. 24.)

# B. <u>Dynamex Filed A Petition for Writ of Mandate in the Court of Appeal.</u>

On June 24, 2013, Dynamex filed its Petition for Writ of Mandate in the Court of Appeal. Dynamex argued that the trial court had abused its discretion by denying Dynamex's decertification motion based on its erroneous interpretation of *Martinez*. In particular, Dynamex argued that:

1) the *Martinez* opinion established new tests for evaluating joint employer status *only*; 2) *Martinez* could only apply to cases involving acknowledged employees; and 3) the *Martinez* tests could not be applied to threshold determination of whether workers were properly classified as employees or independent contractors. (Petition, pp. 4-20.)

The Court of Appeal issued an Order to Show Cause why the trial court's denial of the decertification motion should not be reversed. Briefing and oral argument focused on the scope and meaning of *Martinez*. Dynamex argued that the question addressed in *Martinez* was "who may be

held liable as employers?", a question that assumes the existence of an admitted employee. (Petitioner's Reply, filed Nov. 15, 2013, pp. 6-7.) Dynamex further argued that, because the classification of the admitted employees in *Martinez* was not in dispute, *Martinez* could not be interpreted to redefine who qualifies as an employee. (Reply at p. 7.) Finally, Dynamex argued that use of the *Martinez* joint-employer test to determine whether an individual is an employee would effectively preclude independent contractor status under California wage and hour laws. (Reply at pp. 8-10.)

### C. The Decision of the Court of Appeal.

The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court decision certifying the class and applying *Martinez* instead of *Borello*. The Court acknowledged that the trial court had found that individualized inquiries would predominate if the *Borello* test was used for distinguishing independent contractors from employees. (Slip Op., at pp. 7-8 [citing *Ayala*, *supra*, 59 Cal.4th at p. 529].) The opinion also conceded that "when a statute refers to an 'employee' without defining the term, courts have generally applied the common law test of employment to that statute." (Slip Op., at p. 15.) The Court of Appeal further recognized that, in *Martinez*, this Court analyzed the legislative history of Labor Code section 1194 and the language used in the IWC Wage Orders to define "employer" because "Labor Code section [1194] does not specify *who is liable* under its terms." (Slip Op., at p. 9, emphasis added.)

The Court of Appeal relied on this Court's decision in *Chevron U.S.A.*, *Inc. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1182, 1195 for the principle that "language in a judicial opinion is to be understood in accordance with the facts and issues before the court." (Slip Op., at p. 16.) Despite doing so, in a footnote two sentences later, the Court dismissed Dynamex's attempts to limit *Martinez* to joint-employer contexts by stating

"[a]lthough that was the precise factual context in which the issue arose in *Martinez*, nothing in the case supports a limitation of this nature." (Slip Op., at p.16, fn.14.) The Court of Appeal rejected Dynamex's assertions that Respondent's interpretation of *Martinez* would effectively eliminate independent contractor status in California as "overblown rhetoric." (Slip Op., at p. 12.) However, the Court's opinion offered no example of how an independent contractor relationship could still exist under the "suffer or permit" test. (See, generally, *id.*)

The Court of Appeal concluded that *Martinez* should apply to cases in which independent contractor status is challenged. (Slip Op., at p. 16.) In fact, the Court's opinion appears to hold that *Martinez* can be applied to determine who is an employee for the purposes of any claims falling within the scope of the IWC Orders. (Slip Op., at p. 16-18.)

### III. <u>DISCUSSION</u>

# A. <u>Borello Provides a Clear Basis on Which to Distinguish</u> <u>Employees from Independent Contractors.</u>

Borello addressed the question of whether a group of agricultural laborers engaged to harvest cucumbers were independent contractors or, alternatively, employees of the grower. In finding the workers were employees, this Court held that the "right to control" the work performed is the most important of several factors to be considered when evaluating a claim of independent contractor status. The Court went on to enumerate secondary factors that must also be considered, including, among others, ownership of the equipment, the opportunity for profit and loss and the belief of the parties. (Borello, supra, 48 Cal.3d at p. 355.)

Plaintiffs here were transportation providers engaged to perform local package transport, including pick-up and delivery, using their own vehicles (hereafter "Drivers"). They signed independent contractor

agreements affirming that: 1) Drivers were responsible for providing their own equipment and insurance; 2) Drivers could accept or reject offers of transport jobs from Dynamex; 3) Drivers could determine their days and hours of service; 4) Drivers were free to provide their services to other companies, including competitors of Dynamex; 5) Drivers could select and set compensation for helpers or replacements; and 6) Drivers determined the manner (routing of delivers) and means (the kind of delivery vehicle) to perform the transport service. The agreements also affirmed that the Drivers intended to operate as independent contractors. (See pp. 2581-2593; Vol. 9; Tab 23.)

All of these facts are central to deciding whether the Drivers are independent contractors or employees under the *Borello* standard. They all shed light on whether Dynamex had the right to control the work the Drivers performed (the most important of the *Borello* factors), and they also bear on the secondary *Borello* factors. The inquiry required by *Borello* is nuanced and factually intensive. Indeed, *Borello* requires that "each service arrangement must be evaluated on its facts and the dispositive circumstances may vary from case to case." (*Borello*, *supra*, 48 Cal.3d at p. 354.)

This Court's opinion in *Martinez* deals with an entirely different legal question. *Martinez* does not address how to differentiate between employees and independent contractors. In *Martinez*, the Court engaged in an extensive analysis of a specific issue that arose in an acknowledged employment relationship: whether a produce broker could be deemed a *joint employer* of six admitted employees under the IWC Wage Orders. (*Martinez, supra*, 49 Cal.4th at p. 49.) *Martinez* defines only who qualifies as an "employer." It does not address who is an "employee," because that issue was not presented in the case. Furthermore, the *Martinez* Court—when confronted with the separate question of whether the produce broker

was an employee of various merchants—applied the *Borello* standard. (*Id.* at p. 73.) Thus, contrary to the holding of the Court of Appeal here, it is the *Borello* standard, not *Martinez*, that must be used when differentiating employees from independent contractors.

The IWC's "suffer or permit" standard (invoked in *Martinez*) is understandable when applied to an admitted employee. Equally plausible in that context is the "exercise control over wages, hours or working conditions" standard. Both presume the existence of an employment relationship. Standing on this presumption, these two standards identify the party or parties liable as an employer of the individual conceded to be an employee. But without this foundation of presumed employee status, the tests make little sense. All workers and service providers—employee and contractor alike—are "suffered or permitted" to work by the person or entity requesting services. Likewise, both employees and contractors will reasonably demand to know their compensation, and the timetable for completion, before commencing a job. In short, if used to define "employee," the IWC standards would toss all workers and service providers into the "employee" basket.

The IWC Wage Orders (including Order 9, which governs transportation businesses) were promulgated serially beginning in 1916.<sup>4</sup> (*Martinez*, *supra*, 49 Cal.4th, at p. 57.) All the IWC Wage Orders (IWC Orders) contain identical language regarding the definition of an employer, including the phrases "suffer or permit" and "control over wages, hours or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The IWC promulgated its first wage order in 1916 for the fruit and vegetable canning industry. By the end of 1918, the IWC had promulgated additional wage orders for the mercantile, laundry, fish canning, and manufacturing industries, and for general and professional office occupations.

working conditions." (See, e.g., Wage Order No. 7 at Section 2(F)). The legislative history that led to the IWC Orders makes clear that they were intended to protect employees, specifically minor children. The IWC Orders simply do not address independent contractor status.

In fact, the IWC was never given authority to regulate independent contractors. The IWC was charged with deciding *how* to protect covered individuals, not with determining *who* to protect. This latter function is reserved for the Legislature.

If the IWC definition of "employer" was used to define "employee" status, it would effectively preclude independent contractor relationships under California wage and hour laws. Even if not, it would lead to bizarre results. For example, the same worker could be defined as an employee for purposes of some provisions of the Labor Code, such as section 1194 (which mirrors IWC Orders on minimum wage and overtime), but not for other sections within the same Division of the Code, such as sections 201-203 regarding the payment of wages upon termination (which sections are not incorporated into IWC Orders).

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