S.Ct. Case No.: S222732

SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT

SEP 0 3 2015

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

DYNAMEX OPERATIONS WEST, INC.,

Petitioner and Defendant,

VS.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,

Respondent,

CHARLES LEE and PEDRO CHEVEZ, individually, and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs and Real Parties in Interest.

After Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Div. Seven (B249546)

Superior Court of Los Angeles County (BC332016) Hon. Michael L. Stern

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

POPE, BERGER, WILLIAMS & REYNOLD, LLP

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

DISCUSSION

A. The Problem: The Rising Tide of Misclassification of Employees as Independent Contractors.

1. The Financial Incentives to Misclassify.

Businesses which require a large workforce of relatively unskilled workers to operate are incentivized to misclassify those workers as independent contractors to avoid several employment-related obligations and thereby save on labor and administration costs, often the highest component of their operating overhead. For example, independent contractor misclassification enables those businesses to avoid mandatory payroll taxes, including the employers' half of the Social Security pension contribution and Medicare tax, which nationwide totaled 15.3% of gross wages for 2013 and 2014. Additionally, those employers avoid paying both state and federal unemployment insurance taxes because independent contractors are not considered employees and thus are not covered by the unemployment insurance system unless they affirmatively appeal and win coverage as employees.2

² See, generally, Reif, To "Suffer or Permit to Work": Did Congress and State Legislatures Say What They Meant and Mean What They Said? (2014) 6

Businesses that misclassify their workforce also avoid legally required workers' compensation insurance and state mandates concerning that coverage, as well as disability insurance. Workers' compensation and disability programs vary across states, so the cost that employers seek to avoid varies as well. However, where workers' compensation premiums for individual employers and specific jobs are affected by injury frequency and severity, some industries have a greater stake in avoiding premiums (and workplace and disability-related disputes) and therefore have a higher incidence of misclassification than others.

But perhaps most relevant to this case is the fact that employers who misclassify their workforce avoid the reach and scope of California's labor laws, meant to protect the wages and working conditions of employees in the state. This includes regulation of wages and hours worked, meal and rest breaks, payroll documentation and reporting, and expense reimbursements, among many others. Indeed, sophisticated employers who misclassify their workforce can operate outside California's labor restrictions by dictating highly advantageous terms and conditions of employment based upon

Northeastern Univ. L.J. 347 (No. 2); Carre, *Independent Contractor Misclassification*, a report for the Economic Policy Institute (June 8, 2015): http://www.epi.org/publication/independent-contractor-misclassification/; *Cf. United States Department of Labor (Wage and Hour Division) Administrator's Interpretation No. 2015-1 (July 15, 2015).*

"independent contractor" contracts which they alone draft, propose, and require to be accepted without negotiation as a condition of offering employment to unskilled or uneducated workers. Those workers typically lack economic and bargaining leverage and therefore often feel that they have no choice but to agree to those onerous terms and conditions in order to work. Yet misclassifying employers facetiously applaud those contractual arrangements as providing "entrepreneurial opportunities," even though those same workers otherwise do not operate independent businesses of their own.

2. The Legal and Economic Impacts of Misclassification.

The costs of employee misclassification to tax, social insurance systems, and to workers add up. Businesses that misclassify fail to pay mandatory payroll taxes, Social Security and Medicare (FICA), unemployment insurance, and workers' compensation insurance. Instead, the purported "independent contractor" is made wholly responsible for the full FICA tax, rather than half. (Carre, *supra*, *Independent Contractor Misclassification*.) That loss of billions of dollars in tax revenue alone creates a significant financial burden for local, state, and the federal governments, not only due to lost revenue but also because of the added cost of providing social services to uninsured workers. (*Ibid*.)

Competing businesses also are harmed by the practice of worker misclassification. Law-abiding firms that pay their taxes and properly classify their workers as employees face a competitive disadvantage and may feel pressured to cut corners with their workers' employment status if they wish to remain competitive. Indeed, employers who play by the rules and comply with all employment laws lose when they are underbid by others who have lowered their labor costs by shedding workers and avoiding mandated payroll taxes and compliance with wage and hour laws. (*Ibid.*) Thus, the proliferation of misclassification in some industries further incentivizes competitors to engage in a perverse "race to the bottom" to also misclassify their workforce so they can compete in an increasingly price-sensitive marketplace. (*Ibid.*)

B. The Evolution of Common Law Standards Developed to Address Rampant Misclassification.

1. Borello and Its Progeny.

In *Borello*, this Court examined whether a group of migrant "share farmers" were employees for workers' compensation purposes despite an apparent absence of direct supervision and a written agreement purporting to make them "independent contractors." (*Borello, supra*, 48 Cal.3d at 351.) In doing so, this Court re-examined the traditional common law test of employment, noting that it had primarily evolved to delineate principals'

vicarious liability for the tortious acts of their workers. (*Id.* at 350.) Within that developmental context, the main focus was on the degree of "supervisory power" possessed by the principal; that is, the principal's "right to direct the details of the work" or to assert "complete and authoritative control of the mode and manner in which the work is performed." (*Ibid.*) In other words, as *Borello* observed, "[t]he extent to which the employer had a right to control [the details of the service] activities was . . . highly relevant to the question whether the employer ought to be legally liable for them." (*Ibid.*)

In revisiting that test, however, the *Borello* court held that the common law conception of "control" was far too restrictive and "often of little use" in evaluating "the infinite variety of service arrangements" where direct control is not common or necessary. Indeed, *Borello* reasoned that in those circumstances, direct control of the details of the work need not be shown, so long as the principal retains pervasive control over the operation as a whole, and the worker's duties are an integral part of the operation. (*Borello, supra,* 48 Cal.3d at 355-358.) Finding that the grower in that case maintained that sort of pervasive control over the entire cucumber growing and harvesting enterprise, the *Borello* court warned:

A business entity may not avoid its statutory obligations by carving up its production process into minute steps, then asserting that it lacks "control" over the exact means by which one such step is performed by the responsible workers. (*Id.* at 357.)

Additionally, while examining other "secondary" factors, this Court in *Borello* further emphasized that: (a) "strong evidentiary support of the employment relationship is the right of the employer to end the service whenever he sees fit to do so" (*id.* at 350); (b) the permanence of the relationship the grower had with the workers (*i.e.*, many returned every year to form an integral part of the grower's enterprise) was also "strong indicator" that the workers were employees and not "independent contractors" (*id.* at 357); and (c) the contract which purported to make the workers "independent contractors" was offered by the grower on a "take it or leave it" basis, with no real opportunity to negotiate terms. (*Id.* at 358-359.) Accordingly, with those factors properly framed, the *Borello* court had little difficulty concluding that the workers were employees and not "independent contractors." (*Id.* at 360.)

In the wake of *Borello*, several Court of Appeal decisions have applied its more expansive definition of "control" to find – in a variety of contexts – that workers labeled by their principals as "independent contractors" were instead employees, especially where the work in question did not by its nature require detailed control, and the principal maintained pervasive control over

the entire enterprise. (See, e.g., Yellow Cab Cooperative, Inc. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1991) 226 Cal. App. 3d 1288, 1298-1299 [where the First District found that "lease agreements" with cab drivers did not make them independent contractors, but were a mere "subterfuge" to avoid California's workers' compensation law in light of their employers' pervasive control over their work]; accord Santa Cruz Transportation, Inc. v. Unemployment Ins. Appeals Bd. (1991) 235 Cal. App. 3d 1363 [where the Sixth District also applied Borello's expansive definition of "control" to reach a similar result]; see also Waggener v. County of Los Angeles (1995) 39 Cal.App.4th 1078, 1082-1083 [where the Second District held that although County does not, and cannot, exercise control over juror's ultimate work product (that is, the deliberative process), County does exercise pervasive control over the entire jury operation, thereby making jurors "employees" under the Workers' Compensation Act]; Gonzalez v. WCAB (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 1584, 1592-1594 [where the Second District reasoned that newspaper delivery workers who worked daily delivery routes were employees, even where there was no control of the details of their work, given their permanent integration into their principal's core business and their principal's pervasive control over that delivery operation]; Ware v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1999) 78 Cal. App. 4th 508, 514-515 [where the Second District found golf caddies to be employees and not independent

contractors, even where Golf Club members directed caddies on the golf course, but Golf Club retained pervasive control over caddie operations as a whole, and caddying services was an integral part of Golf Club's business].)

Moreover, a recent spate of decisions has only reinforced *Borello's* more expansive definition of "control" in the relevant parcel delivery industry. For example, in JKH Enterprises v. Dept. of Industrial Relations (2006) 142 Cal. App. 4th 1046, the Sixth District affirmed that the appellant, AAA Courier (a Bay Area courier service) had misclassified its drivers as "independent contractors" and had therefore failed to procure workers' compensation coverage for them. (JKH Enterprises, supra, 142 Cal.App.4th 1046, 1064-1065.) It did so finding that the delivery functions of the drivers – although not controlled in detail by AAA Courier – constituted an integral part of the entire delivery enterprise, over which AAA Courier retained pervasive control. (Ibid. I"the functions performed by the drivers, pick-up and delivery of papers or packages and driving in between . . . constituted the integral heart of JKH's courier service business. By obtaining the clients in need of the service and providing the workers to conduct it, JKH retained all necessary control over the operation as a whole" [emph. in orig.].)

Similarly, in Air Couriers International v. Employment Devel. Dept. (2007) 150 Cal. App. 4th 923, the Third District ruled that drivers who worked for another parcel delivery business ("Sonic") should be considered employees, notwithstanding some indicia of an independent contractor relationship. Notably, in making that finding, the Air Couriers court rejected Sonic's contention that the standards established in Borello are only relevant to determining coverage under the Workers' Compensation Act and do not apply in other contexts, where the policy concerns behind the Act are not present. (Air Couriers, supra, 150 Cal.App.4th at 932-937.) It then concluded that the nature of Sonic's delivery operation did not make detailed control of its drivers necessary. (Id. at 937 ["take this package from point A to point B"].) Yet, as Sonic maintained pervasive control over its overall delivery operation, had a long term working relationship with its drivers (most of whom worked regular schedules), and the drivers performed "an integral and entirely essential aspect of Sonic's business," Air Couriers found that drivers were improperly classified by Sonic as "independent contractors." (*Id.* at 937-939.)

And in Estrada v. Fedex Ground Package Systems, Inc. (2007) 154 Cal.App.4th 1, the Second District similarly opined that FedEx had misclassified its drivers through an elaborate "independent contractor" program in an attempt to escape reimbursement for work-related expenses. Despite an

Secretaring Section 19 April 1

Operating Agreement purporting to make all drivers "independent contractors" and FedEx's contention that its drivers had the opportunity to earn more or less based upon their own management skills, the Estrada court correctly confirmed that the drivers were "wholly integrated into FedEx's core operation." (Estrada, supra, 154 Cal.App.4th at 9 ["the drivers look like FedEx employees, act like FedEx employees, are paid like FedEx employees, and receive many employee benefits"]; see also id. at 9 (where the trial court characterized FedEx's Operating Agreement as "a brilliantly drafted contract creating the constraints of an employment relationship with the drivers in the guise of an independent contractor model"].) Applying Borello, the Second District in *Estrada* then reasoned that as FedEx retained pervasive control over its entire delivery enterprise (i.e., customers receiving the packages were FedEx's customers and not the drivers', the drivers were terminable at will, worked regular schedules, were paid weekly [and not by the job], and had no "true entrepreneurial opportunity depending on how well they performed"), the trial court correctly found them to be FedEx's employees. (Id. at 11-12.)

2. The Need for Further Clarity Regarding the True Meaning of *Borello's* "Right to Control" Criterion.

As the foregoing decisions illustrate, Borello and its progeny have emphasized the primacy of the employer's "right to control" criterion as being the most important factor in evaluating the existence of an employment relationship. Yet that singular focus on control - untethered to Borello's equally critical amplification of what that factor means where "control over details" is not part of the job description – has created an opportunity for misclassifying employers and confusion for the lower courts. Indeed, perhaps presaging the need for this Court's later decision in Ayala (discussed in more detail below), misclassifying employers, knowing that control is the most important indicia in the Borello factors test, intentionally structure their relationships with their workforce (usually through one-sided "independent contractor agreements") to avoid detailed control. This is done with particular ease in certain industries (like the parcel delivery industry) where detailed control of the worker's activities is not required to complete the core functions of the job. (See Air Couriers, supra, 150 Cal.App.4th at 937 ["take this package from point A to point B"].)

For example, in *Cristler v. Express Messenger Systems, Inc.* (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 72, another misclassification case in the parcel delivery industry, one of the main contentions on appeal was whether the jury was properly

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